IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GROVER REED,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 70,069

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.



ON APPEA FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 201170

####

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, Grover B. Reed, will be referred to by name throughout this brief. References to the circuit court's record of pleadings will be designated with the prefix "R." References to the transcripts of hearings and the trial will be designated with "Tr." The appendix to this brief will be designated with "A."

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# Procedural Progress of the Case

On April 21, 1986, the State filed an information charging Grover Reed with second degree murder and sexual battery upon Betty Oermann. (R 9) A Duval County grand jury returned an indictment on July 10, 1986, charging Reed with the first degree murder of Betty Oermann, sexual battery and armed robbery.(R 20) The State entered a nolle prosequi to the information, and Reed pleaded not guilty to the indictment on July 11, 1986.(Tr 10-12) Reed proceeded to a jury trial. On November 20, 1986, the jury found him guilty as charged.(R 276-278, Tr 837-838)

The court conducted the penalty phase of the trial on November 26, 1986.(Tr 846) After hearing additional arguments and instructions, the jury recommended a death sentence for the murder.(R 308, Tr 909) Circuit Judge John D. Southwood delayed sentencing and ordered a presentence investigation.(Tr 904-905, 923) On January 9, 1986, Judge Southwood adjudged Reed guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder, 22 years for the sexual battery and nine years for the robbery.(R 382-388, Tr 926-941) In support of the death sentence, the court found six aggravating circumstances: (1) previous conviction for **a** violent felony based on the contemporaneous convictions for sexual battery and armed robbery; (2) the homicide was committed during the commission of a sexual battery; (3) the homicide was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest; (4) the

homicide was committed for pecuniary gain; (5) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (6) the homicide was cold, calculated and premeditated. (R 389-391, Tr 934-937) (A 1-4) The court found no mitigating circumstances. (R

# 391-393, Tr 938-940) (A 4-6)

Reed timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on February 2, 1987.(R 397)

### Facts--Guilt Phase

Irvin Oermann left his home around 5:45 p.m. on Thursday, February 27, 1986.(Tr 385) He was the pastor of Grace Lutheran Church in Jacksonville, and he regularly taught a youth class at the church on Thursday evenings. (Tr 384-385) On this particular evening, he also had a meeting to attend after the class.(Tr 385) His wife, Betty Oermann, remained home alone.(Tr 385) Upon his return home around ten o'clock, Oermann noticed that the porch light was not burning and the door was locked. (Tr 386) Normally, his wife turned the light on and unlocked the door when she heard his car arrive. (Tr 386) Other than the television playing louder that usual, Oermann initially perceived nothing out of the ordinary inside the home.(Tr 386) As he placed his briefcase beside the chair where he usually sat, he saw a red and white baseball cap underneath the table, (Tr 398-400) He had never seen the cap before. (Tr 398) Reaching down to pick up the cap, Oermann then She saw his wife lying dead on the living room floor, (Tr 387) was nude from the breasts down (Tr 387), had been strangled and

her throat had been cut.(Tr 440-458) Oermann immediately telephoned for the police.(Tr 387)

Investigators processed the crime scene that night, (Tr 416-439, 520-525) They found no point of forceable entry and no ransacking of the house, (Tr 432-433) The only item missing was Betty Oermann's wallet which she kept in her purse on a dresser in the bedroom. (Tr 409-410, 433-434) Blank checks on the Oermann's joint account were located in the backyard near a chain-link fence which separated the Oermann's yard from their neighbor's.(Tr 435-438) Detective Warren testified that a person could go through the neighbor's backyard, across another fence, through a small wooded area and arrive at the Timguana Road, (Tr 438) Approximately five months after the homicide, Oermann's neighbor, Lamona Smith, found Betty Oermann's wallet in the canal which runs behind the two houses. (Tr 538-543) Photographs of the scene were taken including several depicting the condition of the body. (Tr 416-438) The victim's clothing which was found under her body, the baseball cap and checks were taken as possible evidence. (Tr 428-439)

Dr. Peter Lipkovic, chief medical examiner, performed the autopsy.(Tr 443) From his examination, Lipkovic concluded that the victim died from a combination of manual strangulation (Tr 457-458,461-462) and external bleeding from the throat laceration.(Tr 452-457, 461-462) The wound to the throat started as a stab wound then changed to a cut which ultimately severed the jugular vein, the carotid artery and the trachea.(Tr 453) Based on the number of superficial cuts near the major wound,

Lipkovic thought the weapon used was probably a serrated blade of some type.(Tr 452-453) Several attempts to cut through the neck were made because of the limitations of that blade.(Tr 452-554) Lipkovic also found bruises over the left arm, left rib cage, right thigh and above the left ankle.(Tr 444-445) These were cause by blunt trauma.(Tr 444-445) Finally, fresh, live spermatozoa was found in the vagina evidencing recent sexual intercourse.(Tr 458-459)

In an attempt to solve the crime, Detective Warren decided to present a television crime watch segment publicizing some of the details of the crime and asking for leads from the public.(Tr 547-548) Among the details presented was the discovery of the red and white Dr. Pepper cap.(Tr 548) Mark Reiney saw the segment and recognized the cap.(Tr 476-482) He had obtained the cap when it was left in a truck he bought from a man who worked for the Dr. Pepper Company.(Tr 479) Near the end of January 1986, Reiney gave the cap to Grover Reed.(Tr 478-479) Reiney remembered the cap because of a mold stain and an oil stain.(Tr 480) He was also present when Reed bent the bill of the cap in particular way.(Tr 480-481)

Three people who knew Reed identified the red and white Dr. Pepper cap and said they saw Reed wearing it on the day of the murder.(Tr 487,490, 499,503, 511) One of Reed's friends, Michael Shelburne, said he was with Reed most of the day. (Tr 486-493) Shelburne worked at the car wash where Reed worked for a time.(Tr 484-485) He had the day off and decided spend some time drinking beer with Reed.(Tr 485-486) Around 9:00

Shelburne bought beer and went to Reed's trailer. (Tr 486) a.m., The two men drank several beers and became intoxicated that morning, (Tr 486-488) Shelburne went home and went to sleep, (Tr 488) That afternoon, Reed came to Shelburne's residence. (Tr 488) Reed had borrowed Debra Hipp's car, and the men went to buy more beer and to visit a friend of Shelburne's.(Tr 488-489) On the drive back to the trailer park, the car broke down, (Tr 490) Reed tried without success to fix the car, (Tr 490) Shelburne took some of the beer and started walking home. (Tr **490)** When he left, Reed was still wearing the Dr. Pepper cap he had worn all that day, (Tr 487, 490) Shelburne did not see Reed again until later that night. He was not wearing the cap, (Tr 492-493) Debra Hipp, Reed's neighbor, testified that Reed was wearing the cap at 1:00 p.m. when he borrowed her car.(Tr 498-500) Since he was to have returned the car at 1:30, she anxiously met him in the roadway as he jogged into the trailer park after 7:30.(Tr 500-503) He appeared disheveled and was not wearing the cap. (Tr 502-504) He offered no explanation for his delay. (Tr 503) Hipp admitted that she did not like Reed because of she believed he mistreated his girl friend, Chris.(Tr 504) Another neighbor, Lisa Smith was present at this time and also did not see the cap. (Tr 511) She had seen the cap several times while visiting at Reed's trailer.(Tr 511-512) Smith was also allowed to testify, over objection, that Reed told her he and Chris were asked to leave the Oermann's house because because he had drug

~

paraphernalia, (Tr 512-519) Smith testified that Reed said that was not fair and he would get even. (Tr 519)

Grover Reed and the Oermann's were not strangers. In December 1985, Reed, his girl friend, Chris Miznick, and their two children were destitute and homeless. On December 11, 1985, Traveler's Aid contacted Irvin Oermann about Reed's problems, and the Oermann's opened their home to them. (Tr 372) Reed was given a key to the house, and he stayed with the Oermann's until December 22, 1985.(Tr 373) At that time, Reed moved into a place in Ware's Trailer Park which was a mile away.(Tr 373-374) After Reed and his family moved out, the Oermann's continued to help with food, money and providing transportation, (Tr 374-375) At the end of January, Oermann stopped loaning Reed money because he felt Reed was being irresponsible in its use and in his frequent job changes. (Tr 375-376) Near the middle of February, Oermann also stopped helping Reed with transportation. (Tr 376-377) Oermann testified that Reed expressed no animosity or hostility toward him or his wife, (Tr 413-415)

Detectives interviewed Reed on two separate occasions. Early in the investigation, Detective Warren talked to Reed because Reed had lived in the Oermann's house,(Tr 546) Reed said the last time he had been in the victim's house was over a month before the murder.(Tr 547) He told Warren that he had never owned a baseball cap and that he had spent the day of the homicide in his trailer.(Tr 547-548) After Reiney linked Reed to the baseball cap, Warren asked Reed to provide blood and

hair samples at the police station.(Tr 548-553) Warren said Reed agreed and the samples were taken.(Tr 549-553) At that time, Warren conducted a second interview.(Tr 553) Reed reiterated that the last time he was inside the Oermann's home was over a month prior to the murder.(Tr 565) He admitted that he and his girl friend did owe Oermann money.(Tr 565) He denied owning any type of cap or hat at the time of the murder.(Tr 565) He did say that he had once owned a black baseball cap from BDD Drilling Company.(Tr 566) Warren showed Reed the Dr. Pepper cap and Reed denied ownership.(Tr 566-567) Warren arrested Reed for the murder.(R 1-2)

While in jail awaiting trial, Reed allegedly admitted committing the murder to a cell mate, Nigel Hackshaw. (Tr 589, 594-604) Hackshaw was arrested for murder and placed in the same cell with Reed, (Tr 594) After a few days, the two began talking about their charges. (Tr 594-595) According to Hackshaw, Reed showed him newspaper clippings about his case (Tr 595) and related details about the crime.(Tr 596-604) Reed first told about living with the Oermann's for a period of time when he first arrived in Jacksonville, (Tr 595) On the day of the crime, Reed allegedly went to the victim's house and knocked on the door, (Tr 596) Since no one answered, Reed assumed the Oermann's were not home, (Tr 596) He went inside the house through a window and found the victim present. (Tr 596) Reed demanded money from her and she said that she did not have any. (Tr 596) Reed then slapped her, tied her up and searched the house. (Tr 596) When he returned from his search,

Reed untied the victim.(Tr 596) She said that she would not tell anyone that he was there if he untied her and left.(Tr 596-597) According to Hackshaw, Reed then slapped her again and cut her throat with a knife.(Tr 597) Reed said he cut her throat to keep her from talking.(Tr 597) Hackshaw understood from Reed that he did not intend to kill the victim.(Tr 599-601) Reed did not mention a sexual battery.(Tr 597) At the time he testified, Hackshaw had pleaded guilty to manslaughter and had received a sentence of seven years.(Tr 590-591) In exchange for Hackshaw's testimony, the State Attorney agreed to write letters in an effort to influence which prison Hackshaw would serve his sentence.(Tr 591-592)

The State presented evidence of blood, hair and fingerprint comparison. Forensic serologist Paul Doleman examined the blood and other body fluid samples taken from Reed and the victim.(Tr 627-639) Both Reed and the victim have blood type O.(Tr 631, 634) The victim was a secretor and Reed is a non-secretor.(Tr 631. 634) Doleman found evidence of blood type O in the sample of fluid from the vaginal swabs taken from the victim.(Tr 634-638) From this, Doleman concluded that either an non-secretor or a secretor of type O blood had intercourse with the victim. Reed was within the 56 to 57 percent of the male population in that category who could have had intercourse with the victim.(Tr 631-639) Two head hairs found in the cap proved to be consistent with Reed's head hair.(Tr 665-666) One head hair found in the debris from the victim's clothing was consistent with Reed's hair.(Tr 667-668)

The pubic hair combing from the victim revealed one pubic hair which was consistent with Reed's pubic hair.(Tr 668-670) A single latent fingerprint of comparable quality was found on a check found in the Oermann's backyard.(Tr 677--692) Based on chemical reactions, the fingerprint examiner, Bruce Scott, concluded that the print was fresh and probably made by someone who was perspiring.(Tr 685-692) The print proved to match Reed's right thumb.(Tr 693-696)

### Jury Selection

At the close of jury selection, Reed moved for a mistrial on the ground that the prosecutor had used his peremptory challenges in a discriminatory manner against blacks. (Tr 305-315) In selecting the the 12 primary jurors and two alternates, the State used ten peremptory challenges, eight to excuse blacks, (Tr 305-307) Two blacks remained on the jury, (Tr 306) The prosecutor stated his reasons for excusing each of the black prospective jurors challenged. (Tr 309-314) Initially, he stated that he wanted jurors 25 years old or older who had not been arrested, (Tr 309) He excused four black jurors because of their youth. (Tr 310-312) One black juror was excused because the prosecutor claimed she had an arrest record. (Tr 312-313) The other three jurors were excused based on employment, lack of employment or "uneasy chemistry."(Tr 311, 313-314) Based on the prosecutor's stated reasons for exercising these challenges, the court denied Reed's motion for mistrial, (Tr 315)

# Jury Instructions--Guilt Phase

Prior to the jury instruction charge conference, Grover Reed personally waived his right to be present. (Tr 604-607) During the conference, defense counsel waived instructions on all lesser included offenses for the robbery with a deadly weapon and sexual battery charges. (Tr 610-618) Later, defense counsel did request an instruction on theft as a lesser of robbery, (Tr 798) The court instructed the jury on two lesser offenses of the robbery count: simple robbery and theft.(Tr 809-813) No instruction was given on the lesser offense of robbery with a weapon which is not a deadly weapon or any of the permissive lessers listed in Category 2 of the Schedule of Lesser Included Offenses. (TR 809-813) On the sexual battery count, the only instruction given was for the charged offense of sexual battery while using actual physical force or using or threatening to use a deadly weapon. (Tr 809) The felony murder jury instruction given alleged both the robbery and sexual battery as possible underlying felonies. (Tr 805-806) A general verdict for first degree murder was returned.(R 276)

### Penalty Phase and Sentencing

Neither the State nor the defense presented additional evidence at penalty phase.(Tr 846-858) The prosecutor and defense counsel made arguments (Tr 859, 878), and the court instructed the jury.(Tr 897) Over objection, the court refused to instruct on the statutory mitigating circumstance that the

defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his acts was substantially impaired. (Tr 893-894,898-899) Sec. 921.141(6)(f) Fla. Stat. The court also instructed the jury that the final decision regarding the imposition of penalty rested solely with the court. (Tr 858, 897) In addition to the the standard jury instructions (Tr 858, 897), the court and counsel also emphasized this point several times during jury selection (Tr 111-112, 183-185, 277) and argument.(Tr 860, 879) After the jury's recommendation but before sentencing, Reed submitted medical records to the court in mitigation. (R 313-378, Tr 921) These indicated that Reed had been a drug abuser and suffered physical and mental problems as a result. At one time, he had been hospitalized for seizures related to lead poisoning because of his prolonged practice of inhaling gasoline fumes. (R 313-378) The trial court also considered a presentence investigation report which contained a section on victim impact and the victim's husband's opinion that a death sentence should be imposed.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The prosecutor's discriminatory use of peremptory challenges violated Article I Section 16 of the Florida Constitution and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Of the ten peremptory challenges the prosecutor used, eight were on black prospective jurors. A jury of ten whites and two blacks was ultimately selected to hear the case. Pursuant to <u>State v. Neil</u>, **457** So.2d **481** (Fla. **1984**), the trial court required the prosecutor to state reasons justifying the challenges. However, these stated reasons were not racially neutral and were insufficient to rebut the presumption of discrimination. Reed is entitled to a new trial.

2. Grover Reed waived his right to be present at the jury instruction charge conference. During Reed's absence, defense counsel waived lesser included offenses for the robbery and sexual battery charges. Although defense counsel may waive lesser offenses in noncapital trials, a defendant must personally waive lesser offenses in capital cases. <u>Harris v. State</u>, **438** So.2d **787** (Fla. **1983).** The personal waiver requirement is applicable here, even though the waived lesser offenses were for the noncapital charges. This was a capital trial and the robbery and sexual battery were the underlying felonies for the felony murder theory of the prosecution. The offenses were an integral part of the capital case and must be treated as capital for the waiver requirements.

3. The trial court and the prosecutor made comments to the jury which minimized the jury's role in the sentencing process. These remarks went uncorrected, since the court's only official instruction on the point was the standard penalty phase instruction which tells the jury that sentencing is solely within the judge's domain. The jury was never told of the special significance of a life recommendation. This violated the mandate of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985).

4. Grover Reed's death sentence should be reversed because the trial judge improperly found and considered in sentencing four aggravating circumstances. First, the court improperly relied upon Reed's contemporaneous convictions for sexual battery and robbery to find a previous conviction for a violent felony. Second, the evidence failed to support the court's finding that the homicide was committed to avoid arrest since the murder was a spontaneous act during the commission of the robbery and not done primarily to eliminate a witness. Third, the court used the irrelevant factor of the victim's good character to find that the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. And, fourth, the court should not have found the murder to be cold, calculated and premeditated. The evidence did not prove the heightened form of premeditation necessary for this factor to apply.

5. Reed requested a jury instruction on the statutory mitigating circumstance concerning a defendant's substantially impaired capacity at the time of the crime. Over objection,

the court denied the request. There was sufficient evidence of Reed's being under the influence of alcohol on the day of the homicide to justify the instruction. Denying the instruction deprived Reed of the right to have the jury consider all the existing mitigation before making a sentencing recommendation.

6. The trial court ordered a presentence investigation at defense's counsel's request. The report included a section on victim impact and comments from the victim's husband expressing his opinion that death was the proper penalty. In considering a PSI containing this type of information, the court violated Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S.\_\_\_, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987).

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE PROSECUTOR'S DISCRIMINATORY USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES TO EXCLUDE BLACKS FROM THE JURY DENIED REED HIS RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY AS GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

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