IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GROVER REED,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

MAR 28 1988

CASE NOLERKY SUBGE Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM A. HATCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 162540

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

permit reflection sufficient for a finding of premeditation. The medical evidence as to the manner and nature of the victim's wounds can leave no doubt that Grover Reed intended to kill his victim regardless of what he told his cell mate his intentions were. This evidence along with Reed's statement to his cell mate that he cut the victim's throat to keep her from talking clearly support the trial court's finding that the homicide was committed to avoid arrest. There can be no doubt that this was his primary motive for killing Betty Oermann

C.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE HOMICIDE WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL.

The facts in the instant case overwhelmingly support the trial court's finding that the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The uncontraverted sequence of events are that Reed entered the victim's home and demanded money. then slapped the victim and tied her up. (TR 596). Reed then ransacked the house. The victim pleaded w th Reed to untie her and if he would leave the house she wouldn t tell anyone he was there. (TR 596-597). Reed then severely beat the victim causing a number of bruises over the chin, left upper arm, left side of the rib cage, right mid thigh, the right knee, and over the left upper thigh (TR 444). Very shortly before her death Reed committed sexual battery on the victim (TR 459). Reed then strangled Mrs. Oermann with significant force hemorrhaging and bruising around the neck and inside the victim's mouth (TR 457-458). Medical testimony revealed that

strangulation and physical beating occurred before the slashing of the victim's throat because after such massive bleeding from the throat wounds there would be no blood pressure and no bruises could be formed (TR 471). The sexual battery probably occurred after the strangulation of the victim (TR 472). The medical evidence concluded that the victim's throat was then cut over ${f a}$ dozen times with a serrated-type knife plus a stab wound thru the throat a quarter of an inch into the backbone (TR 452-454). was explained that a serrated type knife does not cut easily into the skin and that more effort must be expended with that type of Nevertheless, the victim's throat was slashed over a weapon. dozen times severing the jugular vein, the caritod artery and the trachea (TR 453-454). The death of Betty Oermann was caused by massive external hemorrhage with strangulation as a contributing (TR 461). One can only shutter at the horror, cause of death. pain and fear Betty Oermann must have suffered while Grover Reed tied her up, severely beat her, strangled, sexually assaulted and methodically and deliberately slashed her to death. During this horrible sequence of events, Reed actually stuffed the victim's panties into her massive neck wounds. (TR 421). Reed actions are even more heinous, atrocious and cruel when one considers that the victim had opened her home to Reed when he needed a place to live. Grover Reed repaid this kindness and charitable assistance with robbery, brutal sexual assault and cold-blooded murder.

The state submits that if the above facts do not qualify as heinous, atrocious and cruel, nothing would. Harris v. State,

438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983); Floyd v. State, 497 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1986); Peek v. State 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1980), cert.denied. 101 S.Ct. 2036, 451 U.S. 964, 68 L.Ed.2d 342.

Appellant complains that the victim's character was improperly considered in the court's finding that the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel and cites Jackson v. State 498 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1986). In Jackson this court found that the record on appeal revealed no evidentiary basis for finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. In the instant case, although slight reference is made to the victim's identity and character for clarity's sake, the trial court's finding is clearly supported by an evidentiary basis as reflected in the reasons for the finding as follows:

On the date of the murder, the defendant invaded the sanctity of her home and brutally attacked her while she was alone. The evidence clearly indicates that she was beaten, robbed, sexually battered, murdered and left dead. The manner of the death was by choking and slashing of her throat. evidence clearly established that 12 separate slash marks were made on the neck of the victim. doubts as the to heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner in which the victim was killed may be resolved by the viewing of the photographs of the victim at the scene of the crime and at medical examiners office. One may only speculate as to the fear and terror that may have existed in the mind of the victim immediately preceding her death, . . (R 390-

The instant case is distinguishable from Jackson in that the trial court's finding is clearly supported by an evidentiary

391)

basis in the record. The trial court's finding was clearly supported by evidence other than the victim's character which standing alone justified the finding that the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

D

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE HOMICIDE WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

The trial court found as an aggravating circumstance that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. 391) The court found that a number of factors contributed to the unalterable conclusion that Reed clearly contemplated the killing of Betty Oermann. The trial court noted that Reed told a cell mate that he killed the victim to keep her from talking and that the manner of the killing -- twelve separate slash marks -- and the intensity of the attack justified this finding. Another factor supporting the trial court's finding of cold, calculated and premeditated is the fact that Grover Reed stated to at least one witness several weeks before the murder that he would "get even'' with the Oermanns for making Reed move out of their home because of drug use. (TR 519). Reed coldly calculated his crime several weeks prior to its execution. It was surely not coincidence that Reed arrived at the Oermann home on a Thursday evening when he knew the Reverend taught a class every Thursday night. Reed was aware of this fact because he had lived in the Oermanns' home and the supper hour was changed on Thursday evenings because of the Reverend's class. Reed also attended Reverend Oermann's church and the Thursday class was announced after the worship service. (TR 384-385). These factors alone indicate a cold, calculated and premeditated design. Once Grover Reed gained entry to the Oermann house he found Mrs. Oermann alone as expected and after striking her he tied her up. ransacked the house for some period of time. Then he severely beat Mrs. Oermann, raped her and methodically strangled and slashed her to death. The trial court also found that Grover Reed executed Betty Oermann in order to eliminate her as the only witness to his crimes, a finding supported by Reed's own statements to a cell mate following his arrest. Taken together these factors show а heightened degree of premeditation supporting a finding that the murder was committed in a cold, premeditated manner. calculated and Such a finding appropriate in witness-elimination killings. Hansbrough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081, 1086 (Fla.1987) and is not limited to "execution or contract murders." Scott v. State, 494 So.2d 1134,1139 (Fla.1986).

The facts in the instant case show a premeditated design to harm Mrs. Oermann based on several weeks of reflection. In addition Reed had ample time both before and during the crime to reflect on his actions and their attendant consequences sufficient to evidence the heightened level of premeditation necessary under §921.141(5)(i), Fla.Stat. The fact that Reed tied up his victim while he ransacked the house gave him ample time to reflect and proves that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Jackson v. State, 13 F.L.W. 46, Case No. 68,097 (Fla., Feb. 18, 1988)

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE CONCERNING REED'S ALLEGED IMPAIRED CAPACITY TO APPRECIATE THE CRIMINALITY OF HIS CONDUCT SINCE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THIS INSTRUCTION.

Appellant argues that the trial court's refusal to give a requested jury instruction on the mitigating circumstance of substantially impaired capacity was error. The trial judge denied the request on the basis that there was no evidence in the record to support that instruction (R 893-894). Appellant argues that this ruling was incorrect because there was evidence that Reed had been drinking beer all day to the point of intoxication. The record does not bear out this claim.

Witness Michael Shelburne testified that on the day of the homicide he got off work at approximately 8:30 a.m. picked up some beer and went to Grover Reed's house. Shelburne and Reed drank beer for an hour and a half to two hours (TR 46-47). There was no testimony as to the number of beers consumed by Reed that Shelburne then returned to his home and took a nap. morning. Around lunch time he and Reed drove to Albertsons and got some cigarettes and beer and drove to a friend's house. They only stayed at the friend's house for 15 to 30 minutes and then departed. While returning from the friend's house their car broke down. After a brief attempt to restart the car the two men parted company. This was "around lunch or near." (TR 488-491). Shelburne did not see Grover Reed again until later that

night when it was dark. The murder of Betty Oermann took place some time after 5:40 p.m. when Reverend Oermann left his wife alone at home to teach a class at the church (TR 385). The last person to see Grover Reed for the five or six hours preceding the murder was Michael Shelburne around lunch time or early afternoon. There is no evidence in the record that Grover Reed did anything other than drink some beer in the early morning on the day of the homicide. There is no evidence of intoxication at any time during the day, much less immediately preceding or during the commission of the crimes.

The two-part test to be applied when evaluating a request for an intoxication instruction was enunciated in **Gardner** v. **State, 480** So.2d 91 (Fla.1985) when this Court said:

It is not error to refuse instructions regarding intoxication when there is no evidence of amount of alcohol consumed during hours preceding a crime and no evidence that defendant was intoxicated.

Thus it is not error to refuse to give the charge if there is evidence of drinking but not of intoxication. The only evidence in the instant case is that Grover Reed drank an undetermined amount of beer many hours before the crime with no evidence of intoxication. Although no evidence was presented that Reed consumed alcoholic beverages reasonably preceding the commission of the homicide if that evidence had been presented there was still no evidence that Reed was intoxicated. As this Court stated in Jacobs v. State, 396 So. 2d 1113,1115 (Fla. 1981):

jury instructions regarding intoxication, however, need not be given in every case in which evidence has been adduced at trial consumed that the defendant alcoholic beverages prior to the commission of the offense. Shaw v. State, 228 So.2d 619 (Fla.2d DCA 1969). There was evidence that intoxicating Jacobs had used beverages, but there was evidence Jacobs was intoxicated. There is no evidence as to the amount of alcohol consumed during the several hours Jacobs drove around prior to the robbery.

In this case the record reveals that the trial judge did not commit reversible error in denying the requested jury instructions.

In the instant case appellant failed to establish consumption of alcoholic beverages preceding or intoxication at the time of the murder. This Court recently held in Hardwick v. State, 13 F.L.W. 83 (Feb. 12, 1988):

Fifth, Hardwick contends that he had a right to a jury instruction on intoxication. We find no error in the trial court's decision to deny such an instruction, since Hardwick failed to establish on this record that he was intoxicated at the time of the murder. See Link v. State, 429 So.2d 836,837 (Fla.3rd DCA 1983).

In the instant case the record is clear that no evidence was presented that Reed had consumed alcoholic beverages reasonably prior to the commission of the murder or that Reed was intoxicated when the crime was committed. Therefore, the trial judge committed no error in denying the requested jury instruction regarding substantially impaired capacity.

ISSUE VI

COURT DID THE TRIAL NOTERR IN CONSIDERING PRESENTENCING INVESTIGATION WHICH CONTAINED VICTIM IMPACT INFORMATION OR THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS AND APPELLANT'S FAILURE OBJECT TO THIS INFORMATION PROCEDURAL BAR TO RAISING THE ISSUE ON APPEAL.

At the request of the defense a presentence investigation (PSI) was prepared and submitted for the trial judge's consideration which contained an opinion from the victim's husband that appellant be put to death. The PSI and victim impact statement were not presented to the jury at any time. Upon presentation and consideration of the PSI by the trial court defense counsel did not object to the victim impact information. (TR 918-919). The failure to object is a waiver to raising this issue on appeal.

The question of whether this issue can be raised on appeal when no objection was made in the trial court was considered in Grossman v. State, supra. In Grossman appellant argued that victim impact evidence submitted to the sentencing judge violated the dictates of Booth v. Maryland, 107 S.Ct. 2529 (1987) which held that introduction of such evidence to a sentencing jury violated the Eighth Amendment to the United Constitution. In both **Grossman** and the instant case no objection was made to such evidence whereas in **Booth** there was a timely objection. In Grossman this Court noted that the Booth opinion does not suggest that it be applied retroactively in cases in which victim impact information has been received without

objection and that absent fundamental error the appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla.1982). This Court found that Grossman's failure to object to the victim impact evidence in the lower court was a procedural bar to claiming relief under Booth. In the instant case no objection was raised and appellant is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal.

Even if appellant can raise this issue on appeal the error, if any, is harmless. In Grossman this Court concluded that the erroneous introduction of a victim impact statement is subject to harmless error analysis on a case by case basis. This Court noted that in Booth the victim impact evidence had been heard by the sentencing jury while in Grossman, as in the instant case, such evidence was presented to the sentencing judge who is mandated by case law to give great weight to the recommendation of death. Tedder v. State, supra. This Court analyzed the fact that the jury in Grossman recommended death 12-0 and that the judge found four valid statutory aggravating factors and no mitigating factors. The trial court's written findings in support of the death sentence showed no reliance whatsoever on the victim impact evidence. This Court concluded that Grossman would have received the death penalty beyond a reasonable doubt absent the impermissible victim impact evidence and that the receipt of such evidence by the trial judge was harmless error.

In the instant case the jury's recommendation for the death penalty was 11-1. (R 308). The trial judge's written findings in support of the death sentence found six statutory aggravating factors and no mitigating factors. (R 389-393). These written findings placed no reliance on the victim impact evidence. Based on the jury's recommendation and the trial court's written findings it is clear as in Grossman that beyond a reasonable doubt the death penalty would have been imposed absent the alleged impermissible victim impact evidence. Clearly the receipt of such evidence by the trial judge was at most harmless error.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.